STATEMENT OF ISSUES

1. Whether DuPont was unfairly prejudiced, and deprived of due process, by a series of inequitable pretrial rulings that deprived it of a reasonable opportunity to defend the claims brought against it and that culminated in the exclusion of DuPont's experts one week before trial because of plaintiffs' arbitrary refusal to depose them.

2. Whether the trial court erred in allowing plaintiffs to supplement the deposition testimony of Strong's treating physicians through affidavits prepared and subscribed in the middle of the trial and read to the jury and admitted into evidence.

3. Whether DuPont is entitled to judgment as a matter of law due to plaintiffs' reliance on "junk science" and failure to offer competent proof of either general or specific causation, and of actionable exposure.

4. Whether the trial court wrongfully refused instruction D-10, which would have accurately informed the jury of the "frequency, regularity, proximity" standard for toxic torts.

5. Whether the excessive size of the award – \$15,500,000 for a disease Strong's doctors consider effectively cured – demonstrates the jury succumbed to passion and prejudice.

6. Whether the trial court erred in allowing plaintiffs' air modeling expert, Jim Tarr, to accuse DuPont of intimidating and deceiving regulatory agencies.

7. Whether the trial court erred in allowing plaintiffs' epidemiologist, Richard Clapp, to testify regarding the "Veterans Administration's position . . . with respect to dioxin and multiple myeloma" and to represent that this politically dictated policy constituted a relevant causation finding.

8. Whether plaintiffs' chemist, Rod O'Connor, was improperly permitted to opine about human health risks of dioxins – a subject beyond both his expertise and his designation –

and, further, to do so in grossly sensational and misleading terms that compounded the initial prejudice to DuPont.

9. Whether plaintiffs were improperly permitted to call a former DuPont employee, Victor Hawkins, to recount incidents that cast DuPont in a negative light with no legitimate relevance to the issues.

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT

Oral argument is requested. Oral argument would be of assistance to the Court in light of the size of the record (158 volumes plus exhibits) and the case's complex procedural history. DuPont respectfully requests an opportunity to explain the injustice visited upon it in the court below.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The judgment for plaintiffs is tainted by grossly prejudicial pretrial and trial errors, not least of which was a decision striking DuPont's expert witnesses one week before trial because of plaintiffs' arbitrary refusal – almost three months before trial – to depose them. Glen Strong's illness – multiple myeloma – has no known cause. But plaintiffs were permitted to imply otherwise through unqualified experts spouting speculative theories and making sweeping assertions about the alleged risks of a variety of chemicals and substances, especially the complex group of chemicals known as dioxins. The trial court's exclusionary ruling prevented DuPont from calling experts to refute these inflammatory assertions.

Given the complex scientific nature of the plaintiffs' claims, the trial court's ruling prohibiting DuPont from calling its experts was tantamount to entry of default. After that ruling, it was a foregone conclusion the verdict would be for plaintiffs. But the excessive size of the award – \$15,500,000 for a disease Strong's doctors consider effectively cured – shows prejudice

greater than a simple default. It proves that plaintiffs' tactics caused the jury to lose sight of reason and to become consumed by passion and prejudice. This trial was not fair. The verdict is tainted and cannot be permitted to stand.

I. Course of Proceedings and Disposition Below.

A. DuPont Was Prejudiced by Improper Pleading and by Misjoinder of Over 2000 Unrelated Claims.

This broad assault on DuPont and its titanium dioxide plant in Harrison County was commenced in Jones County on December 20, 2002, with the filing of two substantially identical complaints listing over 2200 plaintiffs. The plaintiffs in this appeal – the Strongs – were included in a complaint styled *Govan*. R¹ 1:6-7 (*Govan* ¶ 5). The remaining plaintiffs were listed in a nearly 250-page complaint styled *Lizana*. R 65:9572-66:9673. The two complaints are identical except for the names of the plaintiffs listed therein, and they were effectively consolidated throughout this matter. There is no separate complaint for the Strongs' individual case.

The complaints were deficient for purposes of reasonable notice and joinder. The 2200-plus plaintiffs were identified by name only. No addresses were provided beyond the assertion that plaintiffs were "residing in Mississippi" at some time. R 1:6-7 (*Govan* ¶ 5), 65:9572-66:9673 (*Lizana* ¶ 5). No injury or injury-causing event was specified for any plaintiff. Instead, the complaints generically asserted that a multitude of "toxic chemicals" – attributable through multiple sources to multiple defendants – resulted in a list of vaguely described illnesses or

¹ The record includes 158 bound volumes and 12 boxes of Exhibits. Bound volumes 1 through 144 contain the Clerk's Papers and are cited "R [vol. #]:[page #]." Bound volumes 145 through 158 contain the Transcript and are cited "T [vol. #]:[page #]."

adverse health effects, some (but not all²) of which allegedly afflicted unspecified plaintiffs at unspecified times. Those alleged conditions

include, but are not limited to: cancers, neurological problems, neuropsychological effects, respiratory effects, gastrointestinal effects, cardiac and cardiovascular effects, hemologic effects, immune system effects, metabolic effects, endocrine effects, genitourinary and/or renal effects, hearing problems, vision problems, integumentary effects, musculoskeletal effects, reproductive system effects, birth defects, child developmental effects and other miscellaneous health problems.

R 1:12-13 (*Govan* ¶ 8), 66:9678 (*Lizana* ¶ 8).

The list of chemicals at issue was so vague and expansive as to be meaningless. Well over 100 different chemicals, chemical families or other substances were alleged to be at issue, and the list was expressly made non-inclusive. Plaintiffs listed over seventy (70) substances or groups of substances that they purported to place at issue as against DuPont alone:

The toxic chemicals . . . include, but are not limited to: arsenic; barium; beryllium; carbonyl sulfide; carbonyl chloride (phosgene); chlorine gas; chlorine; chromium; lead; manganese; mercury; nickel; vanadium tetrachloride; vanadium chloride; vanadium; zinc; tetrachlorodibenzo-p-dioxin; magnesium; methyl isobutyl ketone; soluble lead; thallium; toluene; 1,2 dichloroethane; aluminum oxide; aqueous sodium hydroxide solutions; acids; aqueous hydrochloric acid solutions; carbon monoxide; carbon dioxide; chlorinated benzenes; chlorinated styrene; dioxins; chlorinated dibenzofurans; chlorinated dibenzodioxins; cobalt; copper; ethylbenzene; ethylene dichloride; hexavalent chromium; antimony, hydrochloric acid; hydrogen chloride; ilmenite ore; iron chlorides including ferric chlorides and ferrous chlorides; iron; liquid titanium tetrachloride also known as “tickle;” metal sulfides; metal chlorides; metal carbonyls; methylene chloride; nitrous oxides; particulate matter; respirable particulate matter; selenium; silicon dioxide; sulfur dioxide, tetrachloroethylene also known as perchloroethylene; tin; titanium oxychloride; titanium tetrachloride; unreacted ore; unreacted coke; volatile metals; volatile metal chlorides; xylenes and radioactive materials including, but not

² An unspecified number of conditions were included even though none of the 2000-plus plaintiffs suffered from them. R 1:12-13 (*Govan* ¶ 8) (“Plaintiffs . . . have suffered from *some but not all* of these injuries, illnesses and health related effects . . .”) (emphasis added); R 66:9678-79 (*Lizana* ¶ 8) (same).

limited to uranium, thorium, plutonium and radium (*these chemicals are hereinafter and collectively referred to as the 'DuPont chemicals'*).

R 1:11-12 (*Govan* ¶ 8) (emphasis added); *see* R 66:9677-78 (*Lizana* ¶ 8) (same). Plaintiffs asserted a different, and even longer, list of chemicals, chemical families or other substances they purported to place at issue as against Ingram Industries.³ R 1:18-19, 66:09684-85. Comparably expansive claims were asserted against the Waste Management defendants and against G.B. Boots Smith Corporation, a Laurel trucking company used to fix venue in Jones County.⁴ R 1:6, 15-17.

The allegations regarding means of dispersion were also expansive to the point of incomprehension. The complaints encompassed dispersion through “sources including, but not limited to, piping, ditches, wells, tanks, stacks, vents, dumpsters, borrow pits, ponds, trucks, landfills” into “the air, water, soil, surface water, ground water and area bodies of water.” R 1:13 (*Govan* ¶ 9), 66:9679 (*Lizana* ¶ 9). The complaints challenged the entire history of DuPont’s operation at its Harrison County site. *Id.* The complaints ignored the basic rules of pleading and deprived DuPont of reasonable notice of the claims made against it.

B. The Prejudice to DuPont Was Compounded by a Series of Unfair Pretrial Rulings.

From January 2003 until February 2004, the *Govan* and *Lizana* cases were pending in federal court under removal jurisdiction. R 3:279. When proceedings recommenced in the trial court in March 2004, plaintiffs still had provided no individualized information whatever regarding the 2000-plus plaintiffs joined in the two cases.

³ The plaintiffs voluntarily dismissed the Ingram defendants before trial. R 25:3517-20, 25:3588.

⁴ The plaintiffs also voluntarily dismissed the Waste Management defendants prior to trial. R 75:11060. Then, after Boots Smith declared bankruptcy, the plaintiffs took an order severing their claims against that defendant. R 137:20226-27

In March 2004, when it conducted its first hearing in this matter, the trial court had before it DuPont's motion for a more definite statement. That motion was denied outright. R12:1676 (RE tab 4). At the same time, while refusing to grant defendants any meaningful relief from plaintiffs' deficient pleading and misjoinder, the trial court insisted upon an expedited trial schedule. The same orders that rejected DuPont's request for a more definite statement set all 2000-plus claims for trial in March 2005. *Id.*; see R 74:10865.

Despite their insistence on an early trial date for their mass filing, plaintiffs thereafter refused to respond to discovery and continued to delay disclosure of even the most basic information about each of the plaintiffs – arguing, remarkably, that there were *too many plaintiffs* for such disclosures to be expected. See, e.g., R 12:1608 (protesting “discovery served on 2,227 individual Plaintiffs” (plaintiffs’ 4/1/04 Motion for Protective Order)(plaintiffs’ emphasis)).⁵ Plaintiffs pointed to the early trial date, which they desired, *as a reason to deprive defendants of basic discovery*, arguing the early trial date made such requests “ridiculous.” T 145:26.

Before the adoption of the Case Management Order (CMO) in July 2004, plaintiffs used the absence of a CMO as another excuse for refusing to respond to basic discovery. R 12:1608. After a CMO was eventually entered, plaintiffs used its provisions, which they had advocated, to further delay basic discovery. R 23:3212 (RE tab 5). Imposing plaintiffs’ proposed terms, the CMO protected plaintiffs indefinitely from any discovery about the vast majority of the plaintiffs and postponed open discovery until September 3, 2004, even for selected potential “trial” plaintiffs. *Id.*

⁵ See also R 13:1731 (protesting DuPont proposal that “Plaintiffs submit ‘basic information’ on more than 2,200 plaintiffs” (original emphasis)); R 13:1826 (same).

The CMO required plaintiffs to identify “Preliminary Trial Plaintiffs” by October 1, 2004, but not to disclose which case they intended to try in March 2005. Plaintiffs were not required to disclose which case they would try first until after the discovery deadline. The February 2005 discovery deadline applied to six “Preliminary Trial” cases, not just the case to be tried in March 2005. *Id.* at 3214. After discovery ended in February 2005 for all “Preliminary Trial” cases, four “Final Trial” cases would be selected to “be tried *seriatim*,” without intervening additional discovery. R 23:3212, 3214 (RE tab 5). DuPont was thus required to complete all discovery for six “Preliminary Trial” cases simultaneously, without knowing which case plaintiffs actually intended to try. DuPont had to complete all this discovery in only four months. *Id.*

The time allowed for DuPont to discover plaintiffs’ experts’ theories and then to develop and disclose experts who could respond for all six “Preliminary Trial” cases was even more radically compressed. The CMO allowed plaintiffs to delay all disclosure regarding their experts until October 15, 2004. R 23:3214 (RE tab 5). Plaintiffs were permitted to defer disclosure of their experts’ *opinions* indefinitely. The CMO’s October 15 disclosure deadline was explicitly limited to plaintiffs’ experts’ “names and area of expertise” only. *Id.* Disclosure of plaintiffs’ experts’ opinions was not addressed. The CMO implied – but did not require – that plaintiffs’ experts’ opinions should be discovered by subsequent depositions, which could “commence” on October 15. *Id.* DuPont was granted one month from its receipt of the names – but not the opinions – of plaintiffs’ experts to obtain and to identify any expert through whom it hoped to respond in any of the “Preliminary Trial” cases. *Id.*

Having effectively deprived DuPont of reasonable time to prepare, plaintiffs pressed their advantage by burdening DuPont with overwhelming demands for document production and other discovery, from which the trial court refused to grant meaningful relief. Plaintiffs’ first set of

document requests alone, served in September 2004, demanded 356 broad categories of documents, and the requests were repeatedly expanded.⁶ Plaintiffs' discovery requests spanned the entire history of this large and complex facility. Plaintiffs also insisted on obtaining information and documents on operations at other DuPont plants totally unrelated to operations at DeLisle. Despite a large mobilization of effort, at huge expense, it was impossible for DuPont to meet plaintiffs' expansive discovery demands on the schedule imposed by the CMO.⁷ R 37:535 *et seq.*; R 40:5866 *et seq.*

At the same time, plaintiffs postponed or evaded the limited discovery that the CMO permitted to DuPont. Plaintiffs did not disclose their experts' anticipated opinions in response to DuPont's discovery requests. R 51:7418-19. In addition, plaintiffs maintained that their experts could not finalize opinions until DuPont's document production was completed. When DuPont deposed plaintiffs' experts in January 2005, DuPont was met with the contention that it could not rely upon the disclosed opinions being final because of plaintiffs' ongoing discovery of DuPont. R 51:7419.

As it was apparent that DuPont was being grossly prejudiced by the compressed scheduling of plaintiffs' mispleaded and misjoined cases, DuPont repeatedly sought relief in various forms, but relief was repeatedly denied.⁸ Plaintiffs adamantly opposed any meaningful relief,

⁶ R 41:5886-6019 (plaintiffs' discovery requests); *see* R 28:4044 (DuPont 10/25/04 motion for protective order); R 36:5171 (12/23 order compelling massive production by 1/12); R 37:5351 (12/30 DuPont motion documenting discovery burden); R 40:5866 (1/14 motion further documenting burden).

⁷ At plaintiffs' insistence (purportedly for the purpose of other "trial" cases), DuPont's production ultimately continued through the August 2005 trial of Strong's individual case. T 147:387-88 (plaintiffs requesting extension of discovery deadline until October for purpose of continuing discovery of DuPont documents).

⁸ R 39:5673 & 5677 (motion for continuance); R 47:6918 (order denying continuance); R 51:7418 & 7472 (motion to strike experts or for continuance); R 65:9510 & 9908 (motion urging complete

including any postponement of the March 2005 trial or the subsequent *seriatim* 2005 trials. Plaintiffs insisted that they were ready for trial despite the ongoing discovery.⁹ Plaintiffs had no objection to discovery continuing until the brink of trial. Plaintiffs expressed their intention to depose 18 DuPont experts and fact witnesses between March 1 and March 18 before the March 30 trial. R 84:12216.

On February 15, 2005, plaintiffs filed their Notice of Designation of Trial Plaintiffs, designating the Strong's as the plaintiffs for the March 30 trial. R 73:10756. On February 22, the trial court set trial dates for the next three "Trial Plaintiffs" under the CMO. R 75:10981. On February 24, plaintiffs voluntarily dismissed their claims against the Waste Management entities. R 74:10941. DuPont responded by removing the cases to federal court on grounds of fraudulent joinder. After that removal proved unsuccessful, venue-fixing local defendant G.B. Boots Smith Corporation filed for bankruptcy, and plaintiffs moved to sever it. R 95:13906. In light of these additional developments, DuPont again removed the cases. On this removal, the United States District Judge found that federal bankruptcy jurisdiction did exist but, nonetheless, remanded the case on April 12, 2005, as a matter of discretionary abstention. R 99:14526. Following the April 12 remand, the trial court announced on April 13 that the Strong trial had been rescheduled for August 17, 2005. R 104:15251 (4/26/05 order).

severance due to prejudice on combined discovery of multiple claims); R 77:11278 (order denying same).

⁹ R 42:6092 (1/14/05 response) ("Plaintiffs are ready to proceed with trial on March 30, 2005"), 6093 ("Yet, despite these continuing discovery delays, plaintiffs are ready to proceed with trial on March 30, 2005."), 6094 ("Plaintiffs have waited more than two years for a trial and plaintiffs are ready to proceed with trial on March 30, 2005.").

C. The Trial Court Abused its Discretion When it Excluded DuPont's Experts.

Although the new August trial date allowed substantial additional time for discovery, plaintiffs moved on May 10, 2005, to exclude 17 previously disclosed DuPont fact and expert witnesses from all anticipated trials as “sanctions,” purportedly for the inadequacy of DuPont’s previous disclosures.¹⁰ R 105:15399. Plaintiffs’ motion paid scant attention, however, to the real status of discovery. Plaintiffs made no attempt to explain why DuPont’s prior expert disclosures, including DuPont’s detailed April 4 disclosures, were insufficient to allow plaintiffs to prepare for trial.¹¹ Instead, plaintiffs vilified DuPont at length for having allegedly “undermined” the CMO in various ways, including through removal to federal court. R 105:15400. Plaintiffs’ motion was thus a thinly veiled device seeking to punish DuPont for opposing their early trial date and for exercising its legitimate right to remove the case to federal court. Plaintiffs’ goal was to strip DuPont of its defenses. Plaintiffs achieved their objective.

As an alternative to an order excluding defendants’ witnesses outright at that time (with trial still over three months away), plaintiffs’ May 10 motion alternately requested that all 17 witnesses be produced for deposition “at Plaintiffs’ counsel’s offices in Dallas, Texas,” at DuPont’s expense. R 105:15400. When the motion came up for hearing on May 16, 2005, *only* this alternate request was pressed. The trial court immediately granted the alternate request on terms that plaintiffs dictated into the record. As stated at the May 16 hearing, those terms

¹⁰ Plaintiffs’ view of the propriety of additional discovery after the continuance was highly selective. Even while protesting that it was unfair for DuPont to use the additional time for disclosures regarding its experts, plaintiffs simultaneously insisted that the additional time justified renewed or additional discovery of DuPont on subjects of their choosing. R108:15911 (5/10/05 motion for entry upon land); T 147:343-52, 357-71 (plaintiffs arguing for additional discovery of DuPont); R 117:17200 (6/2/05 order compelling additional DuPont document production).

¹¹ R 98:14298 (DuPont 4/4/05 expert disclosures) (RE tab 6).

required DuPont to make its witnesses available for deposition, at its expense, at Baron & Budd's offices in Dallas, Texas, between May 23 and June 10, but nothing more. T 147:352-57 (RE tab 7). The concept of allowing plaintiffs to unilaterally dictate the day and hour at which each witness was required to appear, without any consideration of the witness's other commitments or conflicts, was never discussed at the May 16 hearing. *Id.*

On May 18, plaintiffs began noticing depositions for arbitrarily selected dates between May 23 and June 10. R 116:17071-117:17177. On May 19, DuPont provided plaintiffs with dates when 16 of its 17 witnesses could travel to Dallas to be available for deposition between May 23 and June 10, just as ordered at the May 16 hearing. R 122:18005 (RE tab 9). DuPont explained that the 17th witness had prior commitments that precluded travel to Dallas throughout that period but offered to make him available in Dallas as soon as possible.¹² *Id.*

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