## **

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

Under the *Daubert* approach, the trial court acts as a “gatekeeper” to ensure that any expert testimony admitted in evidence is based on opinions and conclusions reached through reliable methods. Critically, however, “[t]he focus of this analysis ‘must be solely on principles and methodology, not on the conclusions they generate.’” *McLemore*, 863 So.2d at 36-37 (quoting *Daubert*, 509 U.S. at 595). The essence of the trial court’s *Daubert* function is to determine whether the expert’s opinion falls within the range of rational scientific discourse – *not* to determine whether the expert’s conclusions are either proven or correct – that function still belongs to the jury. Good scientists, like good lawyers, disagree with one another with tremendous frequency. Merely because

two scientists have reached opposite conclusions on the same issue does not mean that either of them used unreliable or unscientific methods to reach their opinions. To the extent an expert conclusion may be weakly supported but still reached through reliable methodological principles, courts should not exclude the evidence. Instead, they should permit the parties to rely on the “traditional and appropriate means” for revealing such weakness to the jury: “[v]igorous cross examination, presentations of contrary evidence, and careful instruction on the burden of proof.” *McLemore*, 863 So.2d at 36 (quoting *Daubert*, 509 U.S. at 595-96); *Poole v. Avara*, 908 So.2d 716, 724 (Miss. 2005); see also *Primrose Operating Co. v. National Am. Ins. Co.*, 382 F.3d 546, 562 (5<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2004) (“It is the role of the adversarial system, not the court, to highlight weak evidence”).

In United States Supreme Court Justice Stephen Breyer’s introduction to the Federal Judicial Center’s REFERENCE MANUAL ON SCIENTIFIC EVIDENCE, he describes the story of a physicist who was asked if a certain scientific paper was wrong. The physicist replied that “That paper isn’t good enough to be wrong!” According to Breyer, it is only *this* type of science that trial courts may properly exclude from evidence. Stephen Breyer, *Introduction*, in REFERENCE MANUAL ON SCIENTIFIC EVIDENCE 1, 4 (2d ed. 2000).

Contrary to the views of some judges and litigants, application of proper scientific methods does not generate a single correct result. This general truism certainly applies in the area of assessment of causation in a toxic tort case. As the currently-approved draft of the American Law Institute’s RESTATEMENT (THIRD) ON TORTS describes:

scientists report that an evaluation of data and scientific evidence to determine whether an inference of causation is appropriate requires judgment and interpretation. Scientists are subject to their own value judgments and preexisting biases that may affect their view of a body of evidence. There are instances in which although one scientist or group of scientists comes to one conclusion about factual causation, they recognize that another group that comes to a contrary conclusion might still be “reasonable.” Judgments about causation may also be affected by the comparative

costs of errors, as when caution counsels in favor of declaring an uncertain agent toxic because the potential harm it may cause if toxic is so much greater than the benefit foregone if it were permitted to be introduced. Courts, thus, should be cautious about adopting specific “scientific” principles, taken out of context, to formulate bright-line legal rules or conclude that reasonable minds cannot differ about factual causation.

American Law Institute, Proposed Final Draft No.1: Restatement (Third) of Torts: Liability for Physical Harm § 28, comment c, at 484 (May 2005).<sup>12</sup>

*Daubert* suggested a set of factors for courts to consider when assessing whether a particular expert’s methods are reliable. “These factors include whether the theory or technique can be and has been tested; whether it has been subjected to peer review and publication; whether, in respect to a particular technique, there is a high known or potential rate of error; whether there are standards controlling the technique’s operation; and whether the theory or technique enjoys general acceptance within a relevant scientific community.” *Id.* (citing *Daubert*, 509 U.S. at 592-94). Nonetheless, both the federal courts and this Court have heavily emphasized that those factors cannot properly be applied to all types of expert testimony, and that the admissibility inquiry requires a “flexible approach.” “The applicability of these factors depends on the nature of the issue, the expert’s particular expertise, and the subject of the testimony.” *McLemore*, 863 So.2d at 37 (quoting *Kumho Tire Co. v. Carmichael*, 526 U.S. 137, 151 (1999)).

---

<sup>12</sup> At the 2005 annual meeting, the full membership of the ALI approved the Proposed Final Draft No. 1, with respect to section 28, comment c, entitled “Toxic substances and disease,” for inclusion in the third Restatement of Torts. See “Actions Taken with Respect to Drafts Submitted at the 2005 Annual Meeting,” available at: [www.ali.org](http://www.ali.org). Because other draft sections of the Third Restatement of Torts have not yet been approved, the full and final version of the Restatement has not yet been published.

**2. The trial court acted within its discretion in admitting expert testimony establishing “general causation.”**

Although DuPont purports to rely on *McLemore* as its basis for arguing that the trial court should have excluded the “general causation” testimony of the Strong’s’ expert epidemiologist, Dr. Richard Clapp, the company completely fails to apply any meaningful *Daubert* analysis of Dr. Clapp’s methods for reaching his opinion. Indeed, DuPont does not argue that Dr. Clapp’s method of reviewing the body of published scientific literature relating to the health effects of dioxin exposures is in any way inappropriate or unreliable. Instead, DuPont contends that Dr. Clapp’s testimony was inadmissible because the language of the many dioxin studies that he reviewed and relied upon failed to contain words that DuPont attempts to impart with magical significance. [REDACTED]

[REDACTED] DuPont Br. at 21. This argument is ridiculous.

[REDACTED] contain the  
[REDACTED] the  
[REDACTED] 151:1024-25. Such language is inconsistent with how the science of epidemiology is practiced, and, “in fact, editors make you take that kind of language out usually.” Tr. 152:1083. Searching for such magical causation language in epidemiology studies is a fool’s endeavor because the science of epidemiology seeks to determine causation from statistical associations, which are the subject of any given study. “[E]pidemiology cannot objectively prove causation; rather, causation is a judgment for epidemiologists and others interpreting the epidemiologic data.” Federal Judicial Center, *REFERENCE MANUAL ON SCIENTIFIC EVIDENCE* (hereinafter “REFERENCE MANUAL”) at 374 (2d ed. 2000). “Almost all genres of research articles in

the medical and behavioral sciences conclude their discussion with qualifying statements such as ‘there is still much to be learned.’ This is not, as might be assumed, an expression of ignorance, but rather an expression that all scientific fields are open-ended and can progress from their present state ...” *Berry v. CSX Transportation, Inc.*, 709 So.2d 552, 568 n.12 (Fla. Ct. App. 1998).

Rather than searching for magical words, Dr. Clapp properly applied the generally-accepted method of assessing the weight of the available evidence to determine whether dioxins are capable of causing multiple myeloma. In the course of that review, Dr. Clapp considered and applied epidemiologist Sir Austin Bradford Hill’s list of “viewpoints” or “factors” for making an inference of causation. R.19130(Clapp Daubert affidavit at ¶10).

Importantly, however, use of this method in no way ensures that two scientists will reach the same “correct” conclusion about causation:

Whether an inference of causation based on an association is appropriate is a matter of informed judgment, not scientific methodology, as is a judgment whether a study that finds no association is exonerative or inconclusive. No algorithm exists for applying the Hill guidelines to determine whether an association truly reflects a causal relationship or is spurious. Because the inferential process involves assessing multiple unranked factors, some of which may be more or less appropriate with regard to a specific causal assessment, judgment is required.

American Law Institute, Proposed Final Draft No. 1: Restatement (Third) of Torts: Liability for Physical Harm § 28, comment c, at 489 (May 2005) .

Besides failing to criticize Dr. Clapp’s methods, DuPont’s argument also fails to address in any meaningful way the studies upon which Dr. Clapp relied for his conclusions. According to DuPont, “Clapp reinterpreted isolated studies suggesting weak associations” and “relied on weak studies while ignoring stronger studies that found no relevant associations.” DuPont Br. at 21. Nonetheless, DuPont’s brief itself contains *no* discussion of either the studies upon which Dr. Clapp

has relied or any other studies. [REDACTED] and conclusory swipe at Dr.

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

The record here demonstrates that many of the peer-reviewed, published studies upon which Dr. Clapp has relied show that dioxin-exposed individuals are at increased risk for developing multiple myeloma specifically. Tr. 151:962-73. [REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

DuPont does not even argue that Dr. *Sawyer's* conclusion regarding general causation should have been excluded by the trial court. Like Dr. Clapp, Dr. Sawyer also reviewed the available body of epidemiology and other scientific evidence to reach his own independent opinions regarding whether dioxins may cause multiple myeloma. Tr. 153:1228; R 19373 (Sawyer Daubert Affidavit). Although DuPont challenges Dr. Sawyer's competence to testify regarding *specific* causation on the basis that he is not a medical doctor, the company does not suggest that a toxicologist is incompetent to reach an opinion on general causation. See DuPont Br. at 24 (distinguishing between a toxicologist's competence to testify regarding general and specific causation).

In any event, far more scientific evidence exists in this record to support Dr. Clapp's opinions regarding general causation than existed to support the admission of the expert causation testimony at issue in this Court's decision in *Poole v. Avara*, 908 So.2d 716 (Miss. 2005). In *Poole*, this Court

affirmed the trial court's decision to admit testimony by a medical doctor who opined that a patient's sutures were torn during cardiopulmonary resuscitation, rather than in a different medical procedure. There, the expert could not point to any medical literature showing that CPR is capable of causing the kind of suture tear that he determined occurred in that case. Nonetheless, this Court determined that the expert's testimony should survive scrutiny under the *McLemore* standard:

Certainly the witnesses' testimony here is not mere conjecture akin to astrology or something of the sort; the testimony is a medical opinion on what caused the suture to tear open. Whether CPR actually tore open the suture is not entirely certain. Requiring that the subject of expert testimony be known to a certainty is not necessary either, however, because, as the *Daubert* Court pointed out, "there are no certainties in science."

*Poole*, 908 So.2d at 723-24.

**3. The trial court acted within its discretion in admitting the specific causation testimony of Dr. Sawyer.**

As it did with respect to Dr. Clapp, in arguing against the admissibility of Dr. Sawyer's testimony regarding specific causation, DuPont again fails to discuss or analyze the methods he used in reaching his opinions. DuPont Br. at 22-27. Instead, DuPont insists that Dr. Sawyer lacks competence to testify about specific causation because he is merely a toxicologist, and not a medical doctor. *Id.* at 22-24. Contrary to DuPont's argument, this Court has held on multiple occasions that non-medical doctors may testify regarding medical causation when they have technical knowledge or experience that will assist the trier of fact in understanding the issue. *See General Motors Corp. v. Myles*, 905 So.2d 535, 542-43 (Miss. 2005) (reversing trial court decision to exclude toxicologist's testimony that a driver's intoxication caused a car accident); *Wyeth Laboratories, Inc. v. Fortenberry*, 530 So.2d 688, 690 (Miss. 1988) (affirming trial court's decision to admit expert testimony by a biochemist that a vaccine caused the plaintiff's illness); *Thompson v. Carter*, 518 So.2d 609 (Miss. 1987) (affirming trial court's decision to permit a toxicologist to testify regarding causation). As this



Court stated in *Thompson*, “It is certain and probable that Ph.D. biochemists and toxicologists are at least equally competent to testify as to the cause and effect of chemicals in our environment as medical doctors.” 518 So.2d at 614.

DuPont attempts to distinguish *Thompson* on the supposed basis that *Thompson* did not involve evaluation of “specific causation.” DuPont Br. at 24. This is simply wrong. Although this Court did not differentiate between “specific causation” and “general causation” in the *Thompson* opinion, from context it is apparent that the plaintiff in that case offered the testimony of a toxicologist to support both general and specific causation in her allegation that a doctor’s negligently prescribed drug caused her injuries. [REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

DuPont further argues that, because Dr. Sawyer’s analysis involved application of a “differential *diagnosis*,” and Dr. Sawyer admitted that he did not “diagnose” patients, that he is unqualified to render an opinion. DuPont Br. at 23. This argument is nothing more than semantic smoke and mirrors. Because Dr. Sawyer is not a medical doctor, he does not diagnose patients in the sense of identifying what disease or problems they may have and recommending a course of treatment for that disease. Tr. 153:1226. However, as part of the generally-accepted method for evaluating specific causation in a toxic exposure case, Dr. Sawyer certainly undertook an effort to perform a “differential diagnosis” in the sense that he sought to determine the extent of any contribution to the cause of Mr. Strong’s myeloma by other factors besides Mr. Strong’s exposures to dioxins and heavy metals from DuPont. Used in this context, “diagnosis” does not refer to identification of disease – which is unquestionably a job for a medical doctor. Indeed, in the context of causation analysis as applied by Dr. Sawyer, “differential diagnosis” is a misnomer:

Courts frequently refer to the elimination of other known causes for a plaintiff by

employing the medical terminology of “differential diagnosis.” The logic is sound, but the terminology and attribution are not. Assessing whether other causes can be ruled out (or in) as potential causes of a plaintiff’s disease can provide probative evidence of specific causation. This technique is more accurately described as a “differential *etiology*.”

American Law Institute, Proposed Final Draft No.1: Restatement (Third) of Torts: Liability for Physical Harm § 28, comment c, at 493 (May 2005) (*italics added*).

In this case, there is no dispute about whether Glen Strong developed multiple myeloma, which is his “diagnosis.” The dispute here is about the *cause*, or *etiology*, of that disease, which is exactly the area of expertise that Dr. Sawyer and other toxicologists are trained to consider. Tr. 153:1226 (“[m]y area is determination of cause once the diagnosis is made”). DuPont’s suggestion that Dr. Sawyer’s toxicology background renders him unqualified to apply a “differential diagnosis” gets the issue precisely backward. As a toxicologist, Dr. Sawyer is *better* qualified to assess causation than most treating physicians, who undergo very little training about assessing causation. Tr. 151:944-45; Tr. 153:1219.

Finally, DuPont contends that Dr. Sawyer’s testimony should have been excluded by the trial court based on alleged “self-contradictions” that rendered the testimony “unworthy of belief.” DuPont Br. at 25-27. [REDACTED]

[REDACTED] Such arguments were the subject of extensive cross-examination of Dr. Sawyer by defense counsel and arguments in closing, and the jury chose to disregard them. See Tr. 153:1330-40 (cross-examination); Tr. 156:1660 (closing argument). Moreover, DuPont has waived any such arguments here by failing to raise them before the trial court as grounds for excluding Dr. Sawyer’s testimony. Although DuPont filed a motion to exclude Dr. Sawyer’s testimony before the trial, that motion contained no mention of Dr.

Sawyer's opinions regarding cigarette smoking, which is the basis for DuPont's "self-contradictions" argument asserted here. R. 10624 (DuPont's motion to exclude Dr. Sawyer). Under MISS. R. EVID. 103(a)(1), a party waives appellate error by failing to state the "specific ground of objection" in a timely manner. *Oates v. State*, 421 So.2d 1025, 1030 (Miss. 1982).

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